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Summer in the Square Event Operations 
RFP Question + Answer 
 
General 
 

1. Why is USP issuing this RFP? 
 

USP’s previous contract for the management and operation of Summer in the Square is 
set to expire. As per our contract with the City of New York and our procurement policy, 
USP is required to reissue an RFP to make sure we provide our constituents with the 
best services for the best price. 

 
2. Who was sent this RFP? 

 
The RFP was published on unionsquarenyc.org and sent to our Board Members and 
relevant stakeholders for distribution. In addition, USP notified firms included on a 
vendor list from the City of New York and experiential marketing firms in New York City. 
 

3. What key dates should submissions include? Does this pertain only to activation dates? 
 

With planning for 2019 activities well underway, submissions should include key dates 
for the planning and implementation of Summer in the Square in calendar year 2020 
events. This should include key meetings, milestones in locking down programming 
partners, and promotional planning. 

 
4. What will it take to win this contract? 

 
Firms’ proposals will be evaluated on creativity, thoroughness, feasibility, and previous 
experience managing large scale events. 
 

5. Who is the main point of contact from USP with the selected firm? 
 
Upon selection a main point of contact will managed by the organization’s Deputy 
Director and Director of Marketing and Events.  

 
Audience 
 

1. Who is the audience of Union Square and what information does USP have about 
attendees? 
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Summer in the Square serves a wide audience, including children + families, fitness-
focused young adults, and Union Square residents and employees. Of last year’s 18,000 
active participants, 67% were kids’ activities participants, 25% were performance/movie 
participants, and 8% were fitness class participants. USP does not currently collect 
demographic data on attendees. 
 

2. Do objectives change for the different audiences served? 
 

The objective for all audiences is to provide the highest possible quality experience for 
all event attendees, regardless of program type. 

 
Programming + Objectives 
 

1. What are the key messages USP is trying to communicate with this series? 
 

The event series should showcase Union Square as a center of fitness and fun, 
highlighting local businesses/partners that make the neighborhood great. 

 
2. If there is only one thought/feeling/fact/message USP would like the audience to take 

away from the series, what would it be? 
 
Guests should leave with positive feelings and the idea that Union Square is a friendly, 
safe, and welcoming environment. 

 
3. RFP states programming must be “non-commercial in nature.” How does this relate to 

brand partnerships and sponsorship? 
 

Summer in the Square serves the neighborhood with fun and entertainment. USP does 
solicit sponsorship to help offset the costs of running robust community programming 
that is clean and safe, however the core activities and performances are done in 
partnership with local neighborhood businesses/partners and are in the service of the 
organization’s mission. Any corporate sponsorship recognition is displayed in an 
understated way focused on providing a benefit to the program and community. For 
example, previous bank sponsors have been permitted to distribute branded 
accessories, but not to solicit with materials and literature for opening accounts. 
 

4. Are there any non-Thursday activities associated with this contract? 
 
Summer in the Square is limited to Thursdays throughout summer. However, production 
assistance may be needed during a Saturday event scheduled in June as the kick-off to 
the series. This activation would be minimal in scope and scale as to promote the 
upcoming series. 
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5. Are there any past partnerships that must be included in programming? 

 
Summer in the Square features a number of neighborhood businesses and partners that 
return to the program each year. These include the 14th Street Y, Paragon Sports, The 
New School, Karma Kids Yoga, Peridance Capezio Center, and Pop Fit Kids. 

 
 

6. Is there anything USP felt was critically missing from previous events? 
 

There is opportunity for improvement surrounding the 5:00 PM Dueling Performance 
program. USP feels there is a need to refine the program to increase engagement and 
draw crowds for specific acts. In past years, most attendees interacted only as they were 
moving through the Square, stopping to watch/listen for a few minutes. 

 
7. Has food been incorporated into the event previously? If not, what were the reasons for 

excluding this type of activation (logistics, business community considerations, etc). 
 
Although the core event programming has not been focused on food, the series has 
featured sponsors that have brought snow cones, snack bars and other snacks that are 
commercially sealed and pre-packaged. The costs related to permits as well as 
sanitation personnel have restricted further incorporation of food into the program. 
 

8. How have activities accounted for poor weather in the past? Which aspects of the 
program will be affected and are there any make up days? 

 
Rarely has poor weather impacted event programming. In the past, at most there have 
been one to two activities cancelled due to inclement weather. A call to cancel a 
particular activity is generally made 30 minutes before an event and rarely impacts 
consecutive events. There are no make-up days built in to the schedule.  

 
9. What elements are considered important vs supplemental? 
 

All programs listed on the event schedule are considered integral parts of the Summer in 
the Square series. Supplemental elements include passive activities provided by 
sponsors, such as face painting, games, and snow cones. 
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Budget 
 

1. Is the budget range outlined in the RFP annual? 
 

The budget range presented in the RFP is per year of the contract. 
 

2. Is there anything specifically included or excluded from the budget? 
 
a. Permit Fees 

USP is solely responsible for securing an Event Permit from the NYC Department 
of Parks and Recreation and sound permit from the local NYPD precinct. 
Additional permits, such as those for gas generators or food, are the 
responsibility of the selected firm and should be reflected in the proposed 
budget. 
 

b. Talent 
Talent for performances and acts should be included in the budget. Special 
arrangements may be made to defray costs such as partnerships or agreements 
that trade marketing value for entertainment. 
 

Sponsorship 
 

1. Is there an expectation that the selected firm will solicit sponsorships? 
 

USP holds the primary relationship with all sponsors brought in to support the program. 
Special partnerships that include sponsorship may be initiated by the selected firm on a 
case-by-case basis.  

 
Event Excellence + Standards 
 

1. What are some executions that have been successful and some that haven’t? 
 
New elements added to the 2018 program were a huge success, including a Tai Chi class 
for senior participants (which drew a cult following each week), a hydration station 
offering free water to park-goers, and a new check-in system for fitness classes using 
iPads and the MindBody app. 
 
Less successful program elements include the pre-show to our movie nights, where 
attendees answer trivia questions for prizes from 6:00 PM – 8:00 PM while waiting for 
the start of the film. 
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2. How is success measured? 
 

Success for Summer in the Square means providing high-quality programming for the 
greatest number of people possible. USP seeks to increase attendance each year and 
ensure that participants have an exceptional experience at each activity. USP also seeks 
to ensure that programming reflects positively on the neighborhood and our 
participating community partners. 
 

3. What metrics are currently recorded for Summer in the Square? 
 
The firm is responsible for measuring the number of participants at activities and 
performances. Attendance is the biggest metric recorded. Demographic information is 
collected for fitness class attendees through the MindBody app used for check-in.  
 
 

4. Can you share programming numbers from previous activations? 
 

USP will share previous event data with the selected firm. 
 
Operations + Logistics 
 

1. How will event operations be handed off to a new firm at the start of the contract? 
 

With the late release of the RFP, planning and partnerships for 2019 will be established 
by our previous event marketing firm. The newly selected firm will be required to 
operate the existing program in the first year of contract with the elements and 
equipment that have already been established. New elements and changes to 
programming included in the selected firm’s proposal will likely be introduced in 2020 
unless otherwise agreed upon by the Union Square Partnership staff. 

 
2. Are there any elements from previous operation that must be included in future 

programming? 
 

Yes. Operational elements listed in the RFP such as production staff, brand 
ambassadors, A/V, security, equipment storage, trash removal, and other items are 
integral to the operation of the Summer in the Square program. 
 

3. Are there any physical elements from previous activations that the selected firm will 
manage and maintain? 
 
Yes. USP owns all elements purchased by any firm that manages Summer in the Square 
unless otherwise agreed. USP currently owns branded tents, color panels, flags, signage, 
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etc. Depending on the selected firms activation plans, elements may be used and 
repurposed. 
 

4. What parking is available for equipment and operations? 
 
Parking for operations is held on East 17th Street along the Park’s north plaza. Vehicles 
used for activation are required to be registered with the Parks Department in advance 
of the activation. 
 

5. Is there a CAD/site map drawing of previous programming that could be referenced? 
 
USP does not have a CAD map of Union Square Park. Click here to download a reference 
map with applicable measurements. 
 

6. Is security (private or public) coordinated through the selected firm? 
 

Security is coordinated through the selected firm and should be budgeted into the 
proposal. Previous events have utilized a private security firm. 
 

7. Will sanitation be managed by the selected firm? 
 

Existing park sanitation services are available to participants of the event. The selected 
firm is responsible for carting trash and recyclables from event operations. 
 

8. Does event infrastructure need to be removed after every event day? 
 

Due to limits on USP’s permits and Greenmarket operations, all equipment is set up on 
event day and must be moved out before the end of an event day. 

 
9. What kind of storage is available for program elements and equipment? 

 
There is no on-site storage for program equipment. 

 
10. Is there wi-fi available in the park and if so, is it dependable for event operations? 

 
The Union Square Partnership provides free wi-fi to Union Square Park. Like all public 
wi-fi, service degrades as the number of users increases. We recommend having an 
alternative connection to the internet, if needed. 

 
11. Describe the typical event operation schedule including load-in. Are there opportunities 

for overnight, pre- or post-event operations? 
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The typical event operation schedule begins with load-in 2:00 AM – 3:00 AM the 
morning of each event day. All equipment and materials are set up by 6:00 AM, when 
staff begins to arrive. Operations continue throughout the day (moving fitness set-up, 
sponsor tents, rotating between North + South Plazas), and break-down begins 
immediately after the end of the final program: 8:30 PM June 13th - July 25th, roughly 
11:00 PM August 1st + 8th. 
 

12. Will USP provide the selected firm with a contact sheet of previous event partners for 
outreach and re-engagement? 

 
Yes, the selected firm will have access to all previous partners from the series. 

 
13. Are partners limited to the Union Square area? 

 
The Union Square Partnership likes to highlight local, neighborhood-based talent as 
much as possible. Outside acts have been brought in to create the highest quality 
program for our residents and visitors with strong preference for Union Square and New 
York City-based talent. 

 
14. Are there any businesses or sectors where outreach should be focused? 

 
USP seeks to bring new programs and performances each year, often coordinating the 
schedule with national and international holidays/celebrations. For example, Summer in 
the Square 2018 hosted a Dueling Drag Queen performance during NYC Pride Week. 
 

15. Will brand guidelines/assets be shared with the selected firm? 
 
Summer in the Square is fortunate to have a strong, established brand identity that was 
developed by USP’s design firm. Assets will be shared to the winning proposal in order 
to develop a program that conforms to the established brand. Applicants can see 
examples of the brand use in our Flickr album and event website. 

 
16. You mention that our response should include an analysis of energy consumption for 

each applicable activity. Are you simply looking for a breakdown of what AV 
requirements are needed for each proposed activity? (IE: Wireless microphones for 
fitness, instrument hookups for 11AM, etc.) 
 
Firms must provide their own power sources for activities that require electricity. Firms 
are required to present an itemized analysis of the specific wattage that each element 
will use, and associated number of generators or other power sources required for the 
program. 
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PR + Media 
 

1. How is media + PR handled for the Summer in the Square series? 
 
The Union Square Partnership contracts with the Marino Organization for media and PR. 
Through careful coordination with the selected vendor, USP may bring media on site 
from time to time to promote the series in Union Square Park. Additionally, firms have 
developed promotional videos for the series to help USP secure sponsorships and 
stimulate interest in the series at an additional agreed upon cost. Such arrangements 
are outside of the scope of this RFP and will be handled separately. 


